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DECISION 

M. LOPEZ, J.: 

Courts cannot luok with.favor at p11rties who, by their silence, delay 
and in.:u:tion, knowingly induce another to spend time, e.ffhrt, and expense 
in cultivating the land, paying taxes and making improvements thereon for 
an unreasonable period onf.1• to spring an ambush and claim title when the 
possessor ·s efforts and the rise of Land values offer an opportunity to make 
easy pro/11 at their own expense. 1 

Catholic Bishop <~/' B.-,langt; v. Court <~/' :-lppeuls, 332 Ph i l. 206, 2:24 ( l 996) [Per J. Hermosisima, Jr., 
First Division]. 

t 



Decision 2 G.R. No. 194897 

This Petition for Review on CertiorarP- under Rule 45 of the Rules of 
Court, filed by the substituted heirs of Jaime S.T. Valiente (Jaime), assails the 
Court of Appeals '(CA) Decision3 dated November 26, 2009 and Resolution4 

dated November 12, 20 10 in CA-G.R. CV No. 89127, which affirmed the 
Decision5 of the Regional Trial Court (RTC) in the Complaint6 for partition 
and damages docketed as Civil Case No. RTC '96-3554. 

Antecedents 

Spouses Cerilo Valiente (Cerilo) and Soledad Sto. Tomas Valiente 
(Soledad) have five legitimate children: Antonio, Vicente, Elizabeth, 
Napoleon, and Jaime (Valiente siblings). Antonio died during the Japanese 
occupation and predeceased his parents. In 1962, their father, Cerilo, died and 
left a 1,420-square meter residential lot located in Brgy. Sto. Domingo, now 
Brgy. San Marcos, Camaligan, Camarines Sur (Sto. Domingo property). 
Vicente died in 1975 and was survived by his wife Virginia A. Valiente 
(Virginia) and their chi ldren Rizaardo, Potenciana, Berenice, Visferdo, and 
Corazon (respondents). On Apri l 11, 1984, Soledad died leaving the 
following real properties: 

(a) four parcels of residential lots known as lots 1113-A to 1113-D, with 
a total area of2,272 square meters, located at Concepcion Pequefia, Naga City 
and covered by Original Certificate of T itle (OCT) No. 100 in the name of 
Antero Sto. Tomas (Antero), (Concepcion Pequefia property); 

(b) an 810-square meter residential lot located at Marupit, Camaligan, 
Camarines Sur, declared under Tax Declaration No. ARP No. 002-619 
(Marupit property); and 

(c) a residential lot with an area of 111 square meters located at Barlin 
St., Sta. Cruz, Naga City under Transfer Ce1iificate of Title (TCT) No. 1400 
(Barlin property). 

The properties were inherited by Soledad from her parents, including 
the Concepcion Pequefia prope1iy, which was merely registered in the name 
of Soledad's relative, Antero, to facilitate its transfer to Soledad. Respondents 
claimed that Jaime and Napoleon made it appear that the four lots covered by 

6 

Rollo, pp. 8---40. 
Id. at 41- 50. The November 26, 2009 Decision in CA-G.R. CV No. 89 I 27 was penned by Associate 
Justice A rcangel ita M. Romi lla-Lontok and concurl'ed in by Associate Just ices Arturo G. Tayag and 
Sixta C. Man'!lla, Jr. of the Special Sixth Division, Court of Appeals, Manila. 
Id. at 5 1- 53 . The November 12, 20 IO Resolution in C/\-G.R. CV No.89127 WflS penned by Associate 
Justice Bienven ido L. Reyes and concurred 111 by Associate Justices Estela M. Perlas-Bernabe (retired 
Associate Justice of the Court) and Elihu A. Ybanez, Special Former Special Sixth Divis ion, Cowt of 
Appeals, Manila. 
Id. al' 69---8 1. The February 27, 2007 Decision in Civil Case No. '96-3554 was penned by Presiding Judge 
Pablo M. Paqueo, Jr. of Brnnch 23. Regionfl l Tria l Court, Naga City . 
Id. at 54- 58. 
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OCT No. I 00 were sold to them by So ledad in 1977. However, Soledad could 
not have signed the deed of sale as she was already blind at that time. Jaime 
and Napoleon used fraud, deceit, and misrepresentation to exclude the 
respondents in the partition of the other properties belonging to the estates of 
Cerilo and Soledad. In 1986, E lizabeth died single and without children. The 
respondents alleged that they exerted effo1is towards the amicable sett lement 
and partition of the properties to no avail. Hence, in May 23, 1996, 
respondents filed a Complaint for partition and damages against Napoleon and 
Jaime before the RTC, Branch 23 of Naga City, docketed as Civil Case No. 
'96-3554.7 

Jaime and Napoleon denied respondents' allegations. In their Answer 
with Counterclaim,8 Jaime and Napoleon asse1ted ownership over the 
properties in dispute. The Sto. Domingo, Marupit, and Bari in properties were 
allotted to them during the pa1iition in 1962, 1964, and 1966 among the 
Va liente siblings. As for the Concepcion Pequefia property, Jaime and 
Napoleon maintained that these were sold to them by their mother, Soledad, 
in 1977. The Complaint for partition and damages filed by the respondents 
who are the surviving wife and children of their deceased brother, Vicente, 
was malicious considering the lapse of t ime it took before they contested the 
ownership of the Concepcion Pequefia property. Jaime and Napoleon thus 
prayed for the dism issal of the Complaint for paiiition and damages.9 

During trial , the RTC received a notice that Jaime died on June 23, 
200 L. Acting on the motion filed by Jaime's surviving heirs Florencia Luz, 
Restituto, Dominianto, and Christopher, the RTC ordered that they be 
substituted as heirs of Jaime (petitioners) and appointed Cyril A. Valiente as 
their attorney-in-fact. 10 On January 25, 2006, Napoleon died single and 
without issue. His nearest of kin are the children of his brothers, Vicente and 
.Jaime.11 

In its Decision 12 dated February 27, 2007, the RTC found that the 
Marupit property was adj udicated to Jaime by virtue of the deed of 
extra-judicial settlement of estate executed on December 28, 1962 by his 
mother, So ledad, and his siblings Napoleon, Vicente, and Elizabeth. The Tax 
Declaration ARP No. 2450 was issued on July 18, 1963 in Jaime's name, 
hence, bis adverse possession commenced on this date. The RTC ruled that 
the lapse of more than 32 years from Jaime's adverse possession in I 963, to 
the filing of the respondents' Complaint for partition and dam ages in 1996, 
was sufficient to Ve':St ownership of the Marupit property to Jaime and his heirs 
through acquisit ive prescription. For the same reason, the RTC held that 

7 Id. al 54- 58. 
8 Id. at 6~- 63. 
'' Id. 
10 Id. at 73 . 
II Id. 
11 Id. al 69- 8 1. 

r 
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respondents' Complaint for pa1tit ion 8nd damages has prescribed and was 
barred by laches. 13 

Anent the Barlin property, which was adj udicated to Jaime and 
Napoleon in the deed of extra-judicial partition with sale dated June 25, 1963, 
the RTC noted that the deed was entered in the Registry of Deeds of Naga 
City on July 6, 1964. Thereafter, TCT No. 1400 in the name of Soledad was 
cancelled and new titles, TCT Nos. 1684 and 1685 , were issued to Jaime and 
Napoleon. Considering Jaime and Napoleon 's open, adverse, and continuous 
possession for more than 31 years of the Barlin prope1ty, they became owners 
of the ir respective shares by prescription. Fu1ther, the RTC ruled that 
respondents' neglect or inaction in asserting ownership converted their claim 
into a stale demand. 14 

In contrast, w ith regard to the Sto. Domingo property, the RTC declared 
that the required possession for extraordinary prescription was not met. 
Although Jaime and Napoleon presented an extra-judicial settlement of estate 
dated November 15, 1966, which was executed after the death of their father, 
Cerilo, the tax declarations were transferred in thei r names only in 1980 and 
1984. Thus, the RTC ruled that )aches and prescript ion have yet to set in. 15 

Finally, as to the Concepcion Pequefia prope1ty, the RTC noted that the 
lot covered by OCT No. 100 was sold for PHP 1,500.00 by Antero to Soledad 
in a deed of sale dated May 5, 1977. A few days later, or on May 2 1, 1977, 
another deed of sale was executed wherein Soledad sold the property to her 
sons Jaime and Napoleon for the same amount. Both deeds were entered in 
the registry on the same day, June 25 , 1979. At 9 :55 a.m. of June 25, 1979, 
TCT No. 11 580 was issued in the name of Soledad and was subsequently 
canceled at I 0:20 a.rn. fo llowing the issuance ofTCT No. 1158 1 in the names 
of Jaime and Napoleon. There being an allegation that Soledad was a lready 
blind on the supposed date of execution of the deed of sale, the RTC ruled that 
the sale in favor of Jaime and Napoleon was void. 16 

However, the RTC saw that a total of 1,735 square meters out of the 
total area of 2,272 square meters of the Concepcion Pequefia property have 
been sold to diffe rent per:~ons by Jaime and Nap0Ieon . Tb{' same was true as 
regards the Sto. Domingo propecty given that o:1ly 645 square meters 
remained out of the orig inal 1,420 s,.J! . .-:are meters le Jr by thf:.:ir f~ther, Cerilo. 17 

Since Ja ime and Napoleon dieJ while the ca:,~ was pending, the RTC 
partitioned the propertif;s among the r~maining heirs, at; fr,1 1ows: 

11 Id. al 75. 
i.1 Iii. 
I.\ / , /. 

1
" hi. at 76. 

17 Iii. al 77 --78. 
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I. On the property located at Concepcion Pequefia, Naga City with an 
area of 2,272 square meters: 

The above-described property shall be divided in half between 
the heirs of the deceased Vicente Valiente and Jaime Valiente. 
Therefore, each group of heirs shall receive as their share 1,136 square 
meters on the said property. However, since 1,735 square meters of the 
property were already sold by the defendants to different persons, the 
same should be deducted from the shares of deceased Jaime Valiente's 
heirs. To this end, the following mathematical computations hereunder 
quoted, finds application: 

1. 2,272 sq.m. I 2 = 1.136 sq.m. - The equal share of each group of 
heirs. 

2. I ,735 sq.m. - area already sold by defendants 
- 1,136 sg.m. - defendants' rightful share 

599 sq.m. - plaintiffs' rightful share on the property sold by the 
defendants. 

3. 2,272 sq.m. - Total area of the property 
- 1,735 sq.m. - area a lready sold by defendants 

537 sq.m. - Area remaining of the property 

Following the above-quoted computation, the remaining area of 537 
sq.m. should be given to the plaintiffs. The fair market value of 599 sq.m. 
in the amount of One Hundred Sixty Seven Thousand Seven Hundred 
Twenty ([PHP] 167,720.00) Pesos representing the plaintiffs' rightful share 
over the said property sold by the defendants must be reimburse [sic] to the 
plaintiffs, inclusive of interest at the legal rate of interest of Twelve (12%) 
Percent Per Annum from the date the property was sold until fully paid. 
Thus, following said computation, the total amount that must be reimbursed 
to the plaintiffs is Nine Hundred Thirty Two Thousand Five Hundred 
Twenty Three & 2/100 ([PI-IP] 932,523.20) Pesos. The same computation 
shall be observed on the property located [at] Sto. Domingo, Camaligan, 
Carnarines Sur, thus: 

II. On the property located at Sto. Domingo, Camaligan, Carnarines 
Sur with an area of 1,420 square meters: 

1. 1,420 sq.m. I 2 = 710 sq.m. - the equal share of each group of heirs. 

2. 775 sq.m. - Area sold be (sic) defendants 
710 sq.rn. - defendants' rightful share 
65 sq.m. - Plaintiffs rightful share on the property sold by 

defendants. 
3. 1,420 sq.m. - Total area ufthe property 

775 sg.m. - Area sold by defendants 
645 sq.m. -- Arca remaining of the property 

The remaining area of 645 sq.nL must be given to the plaintiffs. The 
fair market value of the 65 sq.m. in the amount of Five Thousand E ight 
Hundred Fifty ([PHP] 5,850.00) Pesos representing the plaintiffs' rightful 
share over the property soid must be reimburse [ sic J to the plaintiffs, 
inclusive of interest at the legal rate of Twelve (12%) Percent Per Annum, 
from the time the property were [sic) sold up to the time it is actually 
reimbursed to the plaintiffs. Thus, foilowing said compul~tion, the total 
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amount that must be reimbursed to the plaintiffs is Thi rty Two Thousand 
Five Hundred Twenty Six (f PHP] 32.526.00) Pesos. 

Further, the share of the plainliffs 111usr b~ dividcct equc:illy among them. 
while the obligations of !he defonda11cs irtust be shared equally between 
them. 

For the alleged bad faith of lhe defendants, tn<'.ki n6 it appear that the lots 
were so ld to lhem by their mother, knowing that ihey do not have the right 
to hold said properties and re fusing lo give the pl:.iintitTs their share in the 
estate of Sps. Cerilo and Sok-clad Valiente is sufficient to substantiate 
plaintiffs lsic] claim fo r damages. 

WHEREFORE, premises considered, Decision is hereby issued declaring 
the plaintiffs to be the rightful O\,\ 1,e r and possessor of the 537 square 111eters 
and 645 square meters real properly located lat] Concepcion[,] Pequef\a, 
Naga City and Sto. Domingo, Camaligan, Camarines, respectively, as their 
lawfu l share [inl the esta!e or the deceased Cerilo Valiente and Soledad 
Val iente, who both died in!esta!e in !962 and 1964 [sic]. respecti vely. The 
defendants are hereby ordered: 

(a) To reimbursed [sic]. equally, the plaintiffs in the total amount of'i\: ine 
Hundred Sixty Five Thousand Forty Nine & 20/ 100 ([Pl-JP] 
965,049.20) Pesos; 

(b) To pay plain!iffs damages in the amount or Forty Thousand ((PHPI 
40,000.00) Pesos as exemplary damages; 

(c) To pay plai11tiffs the following[,] lo wit: (i) Twenty Thousand ([Pf-IP] 
20,000.00) Pesos as allorney's fees; (ii) One Thousand ([PHPl 
1,000.00) Pesos as appearance fee fo r every hearing; (iii ) Five 
Thousand ([PI-IP] 5,000.00) Pesos as incidental and related expenses. 

SO ORDERED.18 

On appeal , petitioners questioned the RTC's Decision ordering the 
partition of the Concepcion Pequefia and the Sto. Domingo properties. They 
argued that t he Concepcion Pequefia property was not inherited by thei r 
grandmother, Soledad, from her parents and that the notarized deed of sale 
conveying the land to Jaime and Napoleon was valicl . As for the Sto. Domingo 
property, the land was duiy a.d_judi.,_;ated to .Ja ime and N apoleon as shown in 
the extra-judicial settlement of estrte dated November i 5, l 966 signed by all 
the heirs including Vice!~te mid his v,1ife, Virginia . Jaime and Napoleon 
immediately occupied the Stv. Dom ing,o r ropert) ' and the ir possession for 
more than 10 years h:..is ri pened into 1...,wnership uf the lanrl 1.hrough ordinary 
prescription. A t any !'clte, :..1.~:s t1nieg thr~t tht: ord,:t· of pc1rtition "'-'3S proper, the 
petit ioners c.,or:tcnd fri a t Lhe .: , .. / ,l !°d ,.1 f cL-nn rr5 ts has no has is and that the 

IS Id. cit 'N- -X I . 
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Concepcion Pequefia and the Sto. Domingo properties should be divided into 
three, Vicente, Jaime, and Napoleon receiving one share each. 19 

On the other hand, respcndents ~ountered that the RTC correctly 
awarded to them 537 square rnelers of the Concepcion Pequefia property and 
645 square meters of the Sto. Domingo property, plus the payment 
corresponding to the portion of the lots already sold to third persons by Jaime 
and Napoleon. The award of exemplary damages and attorney's fees were also 
proper.20 

In the assailed Decision21 dated Novembe~· 26, 2009, the CA affirmed 
the RTC's ruling that the Ccncepcion Pequefia and the Sto. Domingo 
properties must be partitioned among the heirs of Cerilo and Soledad. 
Nevertheless, the CA held that since Napoleon was sti ll alive at the time the 
sales were made to third persons, r.he properties must be divided into three 
parts, V icente, Jaime, and Napoleon rece1v111g one share each. The CA 
adjudged in this wise: 

On account of the transfers effected by the defendants, on ly a 
portion with an area of 537 square meters has remained of the Concepcion 
Pequefia property . This Court notes, however, that at the time of the 
conveyance, three ... sets of heirs, namely: Vicente 's substituted heirs, 
Jaime and Napoleon, were to share in the property. The area of2,272 square 
meters should, therefore, be divided into three (3) parts, not two. The share 
of each set of heir was, therefore, 751.1 square meters. The remaining area 
of 537 square meters rightfully belongs to the plaintiffs who still had been 
shortchanged therein to the extent of 220.1 square meters which pursuant to 
the computation by the trial court had a fair market value of 
[PI-IP] 56,000.00 plus interest at the rate of 6% per annum from the date of 
the sale until fu lly paid. 

The Sto. Domingo property with an area of 1,420 qquare meters 
should likewise be divided int1J three (3) parts of 473 square metcr[s] each 
with one ... part of 4 73 square meters to be nl lotted to herein plaintiffs as 
their lawful share to be deducted from the 645[-]square meter remainder 
after the sale. The remaining 172[-]square meter portion after deducting 
plaintiffs' share of 4 73 square meters shall further be divided equally so that 
plaintiffs-appellees will get 86 square meter[s] or a total of 559 square 
meter[s] and the defendants-appell ants, 86 square mc.:ter[s]. The award of 
exemplary damages, attorney's fees and incidental ~xpenses having been 
substantiated by evidence is [:ffirmcd. 

1
•
1 CA ro/lo. pp. 66--'! ~. 

2c, Id. 
2 1 Rollo, pp. 4 1- 50. 
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WHEREFORE, in view of the foregoing, the assailed decision is 
MODIFIED as follows: 

(a) Plaintiffs' share in the Concepcion Pequefia property is 
reduced to 757. l square meters so that the remainder thereof of 537 square 
meters is adjudged to belong to plaintiff [sic] who shall further be 
reimbursed by defendants-appellants on account of the deficiency in their 
share in the sum of [PI-IP] 56,000.00 plus interest at 6% per annum from the 
date of the sale of the said property until fully paid; 

(b) Plaintiffs' share in the Sto. Domingo property is fixed at 599 
square meters which defendants-appellants should deliver to the former[.] 

The assailed Decision is AFFIRMED in all other respects. 

SO ORDERED.22 (Emphasis in the original) 

The petitioners moved for reconsideration, but their motion was denied 
by the CA in the assailed Resolution23 dated November 12,2010. Hence, this 
Petition. 

Petitioners argue that the RTC and CA should have dismissed the 
Complaint for partition and damages because respondents are not co-owners 
of the disputed properties. An action for partition presupposes an existing 
co-ownership arising from the death of the decedent.24 For one, the 
Concepcion Pequef:ia property did not form part of the estate of Soledad when 
she passed away in I 984 because she already sold the land to Jaime and 
Napoleon on May 21, 1977. The RTC and the CA failed to consider that the 
deed of sale signed by Soledad is a notarized document. 25 Being the owner of 
the Concepcion Pequefia property, Soledad had every right during her 
lifetime, to dispose of her property, without limitations other than those 
established by law.26 

Anent the Sto. Domingo property, the petitioners maintain that the land 
was adjudicated in favor Jaime and Napoleon on November 15, 1966, as per 
deed of extrajudicial settlement of estate duly signed by the heirs of Cerilo, 
including Vicente and his wife, Virginia.27 

On the other hand, respondents averred that the Petition raised 
questions of facts which the court a quo has already examined. The issues are 
not proper in a Rule 45 Petition of the Rules of Court, since the Court is not a 
reviewer of facts.28 

22 Id. at 47--49. 
23 Id. at 51 - 53. 
24 Id. at 24. 
15 /d.at 27. 
26 Id. at 25. 
27 Id. at 23, 75. 
28 ld.at 93 . 
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Issue 

Whether the RTC and the CA are correct in declaring that the 
Concepcion Pequefia and the Sto. Domingo properties are co-owned by the 
surviving heirs of Cerilo and Soledad and in ordering the partition of the 
disputed lots between petitioners and respondents. 

Ruling 

The Court grants the Petit ion. 

Fundamentally, a Petition for Review on Certiorari under Rule 45 of 
the Rules of Court only covers questions of law. Corollary to this nde, the 
Couri no longer reviews the factual findings of the CA, especially those 
affirming the conclusions of the RTC, unless there are compelling reasons,29 

such as: 

case. 

( 1) when the findings are grounded entirely on speculation, surmises or 
conjectures; (2) when the inference made is manifestly mistaken, absurd or 
impossible; (3) when there is grave abuse of discretion; (4) when the 
judgment is based on a misapprehension of facts; (5) when the findings 
of fact are conflicting; (6) when in making its findings the Court of Appeals 
went beyond the issues of the case, or its findings are contrary to the 
admissions of both the appellant and the appellee; (7) when the findings are 
contrary to the trial court; (8) when the findings are conclusions without 
citation of spec~fic evidence on which they are based; (9) when the facts set 
forth in the petition as well as in the petitioner's main and reply briefs are 
not disputed by the respondent; (10) when the find ings of fact are premised 
on the supposed absence of evidence and contradicted by the evidence on 
record; and (11) when the Court of Appeals man(festly overlooked certain 
relevant facts not disputed by the parties, which, if properly considered, 
would justify a d(fferent conclusion. 30 (Emphasis supplied) 

The exceptions in numbers one, eight, and 11 are present in the instant 

Nature of an action for 
partition 

The estate of a deceased person passes on to their heirs at the moment 
of death.31 From that point, Article 1078 of the Civil Code,32 ordains that all 
the heirs shall become co-owners of the properties belonging to the estate. 

29 Spouses Chua v. Msgr. Soriano, 549 Phil. 578 (2007) [Per J. A ustria-Martinez, Third Div ision] . 
.1o Id. at 588-589. 
1 1 CIVIL CODE, arl. 777. 

Article 777. The rights to the success ion are transmitted from the moment of the death of the decedent. 
31 CIVIL CODI-:, art. I 078. 

Article 1078. Where there are two or more heirs, the whole estate of the decedent is, before its partition, 
owned in common by such heirs, subject to the payment of debts of the deceased. 
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Despite this prov1s1on, the heirs are not obliged to remain in the co­
ownership33 and may, at any time, demand the partition of the properties held 
in common.34 They may then choose to divide the estate among themselves 
extrajudicial ly ,35 or resort to the filing of an action for judicial partition in case 
of disagreement.36 

A complaint for judicial partition like the present one is a mode of 
extinguishing co-ownership. It aims to secure a division of the whole estate to 
grant exclusive ownership to each one of the co-owners of the property 
corresponding to their share.37 Based on this premise, the first stage in an 
action for partition is the settlement of the issue on ownership. This inevitably 
requires the plaintiff or claimant to prove, by preponderance of evidence, their 
rightful interest as co-owner of the property.38 

Here, there is no issue as to the status of the petitioners and respondents 
as the legitimate heirs/grandchildren of the deceased Cerilo and Soledad. It is 
also on record that the parties no longer question the RTC's ruling regarding 
the Marupit and the Barlin properties, which was affi rmed by the CA. 

33 

'.15 

CIVIL CODE, a1t. 494. 
Article 494. No co-owner shall be obl iged to remain in the co-ownership. Each co-owner may demand 
at any time the partition of the thing owned in common, insofar as his share is concerned. 

Nevertheless, an agreement to keep the thing undivided for a certain period of time, not exceeding 
ten years, shall be valid. This term may be extended by a new agreement. 

A donor or testator may prohibit partition for a period which shal l not exceed twenty years. 
Neither shall there be any partition when it is prohibited by law. 
No prescription shall run in favor of a co-owner or co-heir against his co-owners or co-heirs so long 

as he expressly or impliedly recognizes the co-ownership. 
Arambulo v. Nolasco, 730 Phil. 464, 473-474 (2014) [Per J. Perez, Second Division]. 
RULES OF Cou1n, Rule 74, sec. I. 
Section 1. Extrqjudicial settlement hy agreement between heirs. - If the decedent left no wi ll and no 
debts and the heirs are all of age, or the min ors are represented by their judicial or legal representatives 
duly authorized for the purpose, the parties may, without securing letters of adm in istration, divide the 
estate among themselves as they see fit by means of a public instrument filed in the office of the register 
of deeds, and shou ld they disagree, they may do so in an ordinary action of partition. If there is only one 
heir, he may adjudicate to himself the entire estate by means of an affidav it filed in the office of the 
register of deeds. The parties to an extrajudicial settlement, whether by publ ic instrument or by 
stipulation in a pending action for partition, or the sole heir who adjudicates the entire estate to himsel f 
by means ofan affidavit shall file, simultaneously w ith and as a condition precedent to the fi ling of the 
public instrument, or stipulation in the action for partition, or of the affidavit in the office of the register 
of deeds, a bond with the said register of deeds, in an amount equivalent to the value of the personal 
property involved as certified to under oath by the parties concerned and conditioned upon the payment 
of any just claim that may be filed under Section 4 of this rule. It shall be presumed that the decedent 
left no debts if no creditor files a petition for letters of admin istration within two (2) years after the death 
of the decedent. 

The fact of the extrajudic ial settlement or administration shall be published in a newspaper of 
general circu lation in the manner provided in the next succeed ing section; but no extrajudicial settlement 
shall be binding upon any person who has not participated therein or had no notice thereof. 

30 RULES OF COURT, Rule 39, sec. 3. 
Section 3. Commissioner.1· to make partition when parties fail to agree. - If the parties are unable to 
agree upon the part ition, the court sha ll appoint not more than three (3) competent and disinterested 
persons as comm issioners to make the partition, commanding them to set off to the plaintiff and to each 
party in interest such part and proportion of the property as the court shall direct. 
See also Buot v. Duiali, 819 Phil. 74-83 (20 17) [Per J. Jardeleza, First Division] . 

.1
7 Oribello v. Court of Appeals, (Special Former Tenth Division), 765 Ph il. 576, 589 (20 15) [Per J. 

Bersamin, First Division]. 
.is Vda. de Figuracion v. Fig11racion-Gerilla, 703 Phil. 455,468 (2015) [Per J. Reyes, First Division]. 

I 
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Hence, the Court sha ll only determine: (1) whether the action for 
pa,tition is proper with respect to the Concepcion Pequefia and the 
Sto. Domingo properties and if so, (2) whether the p01tions allotted as the 
respective shares of each set of heirs are correct. 

Respondents failed to 
prove their right to 
demand the partition of 
the Sto. Domingo 
property 

f n this case, the RTC ruled in favor of the respondents and ordered the 
partition of the Sto. Domingo property. The trial court declared that although 
Jaime and Napoleon presented the extra-judicial settlement of estate dated 
November 15, 196639 to prove the ir defense of ownership, the length of their 
possession of the Sto. Domingo property fel l short of the 30-year period 
required for extraordinary acquisitive prescription.40 

The RTC departed from the established rules of evidence and burden 
of proof in civil cases. 

Rule 131, Section 1 of the Rules of Court, states: 

SECTION l. Burden ofpro<~f'and burden o_f'evidence. Burden of 
proof is the duty of a party to present evidence on the facts in issue necessary 
to establish his or her cla im or defense by the amount of evidence required 
by law[.] 

The rule dictates that whoever alleges the affirmative of an issue bears 
the burden of proof. In civil cases, this duty devolves upon the plaintiff 
because the burden of proof never parts. Nonetheless, once the plaintiff is able 
to prove by preponderance of evidence, their cause of action during the trial , 
the burden of evidence shifts to the defendant to controvert plaintiff's prima 
facie case. Should the defendant fail, the trial court must resolve the 
controversy in favor of the plaintiff.'11 

In the present Complaint for partition and damages, respondents 
claimed that they were fraudu lently excluded by their co-owners Jaime and 
Napoleon from participating in the estate of Cerilo and Soledad, which 
include the Sto. Domingo property:42 

39 RTC Records, pp. 434-435 (Exhibits "2" r.nd .. T," with sub-markings). 
40 Rollo, pp.75- 8 1. 
•
11 Manongso11g v. Estimo, 452 Phi l. S62, 877 (2003), citing Jison v. Court ll(Appeals, 350 Phil. 138, 173 

( 1998) [Per J. Davirle, Jr. , First Division l 
•
12 Rollo, p. 55. Complaint for pa11itio11 and damges <lated l'vlay 22, 19%, p. 4. 
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8. Thal w ilh respec:t to o ther properties mentioned in the preceding 
paragraphs, defendant Ja ime Valicnt:~ :r ;.<ill usion with defendant Napoleon 
Valiente declared said real properlie.:~ :r, :fr; j_sic] IK:me to exclude herein 
plainti ffs lo pai"ticipate i11 the p::nti tion of the properties of the estate of his 
parents who both died inte~latel.1'11 

To prove their cause of action, R izaardo, testified that his grandmother, 
Soledad, lived with the ir fam ily in Sampaloc, Manila before she passed away 
in 1984. He knows that his grandparents left residential lots at Marupit and 
Sto. Dom ingo, Camaligan, Camarines Sur and in Concepcion Pequefia and 
Barlin in Naga C ity. After the J ealh. of his grandparents, they learned that 
these properties were transferred in the names of Jaime and Napoleon.44 He 
resided in his grandfather' s house in Marupit from "caton" or pre-school until 
he reached Grade 2 . Anent the Sto. Domingo property, Rizaardo knows that 
the land is already in the name of his uncle, Jaime, as indicated in Tax 
Declaration No. 00702 14, but it was previously declared in the name of his 
grandfather under the old Tax declz,ration No. I 174_--1 5 Rizaardo adm itted that 
he, his siblings, and their mother, Virg inia, were never in possession of the 
Sto. Dom ingo property.46 On cross-examination, Rizaardo claimed that his 
father, V icente, gave money to Jaime for the payment of taxes but did not ask 
for the receipts because he trusted Jaime.47 Lastly, Rizaardo admitted that his 
father, Vicente, did not fi le any case against Jaime and Napoleon during his 
lifetime.48 

On the other hand, Jaime testifi ed for the petiti.oners. He clarified that 
the properties of their parents were already partitioned among the hei rs. For 
instance, in 1963, after the death of their father, they extrajudicially 
partitioned the 552-square meter Bari in property. The shares of Soledad, 
E lizabeth, and Vicente were sold to former Judge Mamerto Bonot, while 
Napoleon sold his share to Virgini a Rosana. These transactions were duly 
annotated on the title of the Bari in property. What remained was his share of 
111 square meters wh ich is now covered by TCT No. 1813.49 As for the 
Marupit property, the same was g iven to him by Soledad with the conformity 
of his brothers and s ister as shown in the deed of partial extra judicial 
settlement of estate w ith donation. Anent the contested lot in Sto. Domingo, 
the property was adjud icated and di vided between him and Napoleon in 
November 1966 as agreed in the extra judicial settlement of estate executed 
by all the heirs, including Vicente. Jaime stated that Vi rginia was even present 
when the Marupit and the Sto . Domingo properties vvere partitioned and she 
s igned as V icente ' s \vifo on the deeds. ,L\fter th~ partition, he and Napoleon 
built theirs hr.uses in Sto. Dom ini;r~ n.nd paid the taxes due thereor1_ :io 

~
1 Id. at ~~ - 56. 

•
1
•
1 TSN, Arird ~- 1098. ;Jr,. 2- 15. 

~5 TSN, ( k cc1f:r,-:r ::: . 1 "-)•.l& r·p. ~- (, . 
41

' Id. a! l i. 
17 T::;:,:, March J 2, : '.)'l•l , :, . 6- -: . 
4X / , /. 

~') Id 

~" !'SN, .lanu,1ry l•l_ ];}l}(), r,p. -~ -::i;. 
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With regard to the iots locat~J i::: Concepcion Pequefia, Jaime testified 
that these were part of a large!· µrcp,~rty ovmed by Antero under OCT No. l 00. 
In 1977, Antero sold four lots to his nF)ther, Soled;:id, wh ile the la tter was 
vacationing in Camali gan with Ei:a1hE:th , 1vho was then a college professor. 
Soledad wanted to build an apartn1ent in Concepcion Pequefia, but changed 
her mind when she saw that the property was fu! ! of cogon grass. Instead, 
Soledad sold the property 1:,) him ancl Napoleon. Vicente was not present 
during the sale as he w,1s a soldier working with the Ph ilippine Air Force. At 
present Jaime and his fami ly rcmnin in possession of his shares in the Marupit, 
Sto. Domingo, arid Concepcion Pequefict properties, ,mlike Napoleon who 
already sold most of his shares to th ird persons. Jaime explained that E lizabeth 
and V icente waived their rights on the Marurit and the Sto. Domingo 
properties because they were already given properties in General Luna in 
Naga City and in Sampaloc, Manila. 51 

After tria l, the RTC ordered the partition of the disputed Sto. Domingo 
property, without making a categorical Gi1ding on respondents' c la im of co­
ownersh ip. The RTC ruled in this manner: 

With regard to the properly in Slo. Domingo, Camaligan. 
[Camarines]. Sur, wh ile the defendants presented <111 Extra-Judicial 
Settlement of Estate dated [November] 15, 1066. the time when the tax 
declaration was transferred in their name[sJ wa::; only in 1980 (ARP No. 
1883) for . I 310 [square meters] and for 645 f square metcrsJ (ARP No. 
7044) in 1984. Laches and prescription has not lsicj yet set in considering 
that the said [signatures] Extra-Judicial Settlement 0f Esta le are not that of 
Virgin ia and Vicente Valiente. With such allegation, the requirement for 
extraordinary prescription had not been met.5:! 

Unfo1iunately, the CA 's Decision fails just the same. In the assai led 
Decision,53 the CA merely restated the parties ' arguments and immediately 
proceeded to recompute the portions of the estate allotted by the RTC to the 
heirs. 

In keeping w ith judicial economy, given that the case was filed way 
back in 1996, and considering fllliher the lapses of the RTC and the CA, and 
the substantive issues raised in the present Petition, the Court deems it 
necessary to exercise its discretionary power of reviev; under the Rules of 
Court, Rule 45. 

First, the>: Court finds 110 suH~cient evidenc1:: to prove the nl leged co­
ownership of the Sto. Domingo ~')roper"L)' that would support the action for 

partition. 

51 TSN, Mnrch 6, 2000: .:uiy J. WOO; J.1m;:;1:' fs, :n•) l: 1Vlarrl 0 5. ·200 I. 
~~ No/lo, p. Y ,. 
51 Id ~{ 41 --:,0. 
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Contrary to the conclusions of the RTC and the CA, respondents' claim 
of co-ownership was belied by evidence showing that the Sto. Domingo 
property already ceased to be a common property of the heirs of Cerilo and 
Soledad. As early as November 1966, the land in Sto. Domingo was 
adjudicated in favor of Jaime and Napoleon in the extra-judicial settlement of 
estate54 executed by Soledad and the Valiente siblings. During trial, Rizaardo 
failed to dispute the fact that his father, Vicente, signed the document together 
with his siblings and their mother, Soledad. True enough, Rizaardo admitted 
that Vicente, during his lifetime, did not contest Jaime and Napoleon's 
ownership and exclusive possession of the Sto. Domingo property.55 

Moreover, the Court observes that the extrajudicial partition was also 
signed by Vicente's surviving spouse, Virginia.56 When presented as a rebuttal 
witness, Virginia disowned the signatures purporting to be hers and Vicente's 
on the extra-judicial settlement of estate. She then identified several 
documents marked as Exhibits "U" to "BB" which contain their specimen 
signatures57 to prove that those appearing in the extra-judicial partition are not 
genuine. Surprisingly, Exhibits "U" to "BB" were not submitted and not 
formally offered as evidence by the respondents.58 For this reason, the Court 
cannot determine the truthfulness of Virginia's statement. Indeed, courts 
cannot give probative weight to documents not included in the formal offer.59 

As it stands, Virginia's bare denial cannot prevail over the documentary 
evidence that she and Vicente signed, the extra-judicial partition and that they 
signed the document in the presence of Jaime,60 and the other witness 
Florencia Valiente.6I 

Jaime and Napoleon 's 
exclusive possession of 
the Sto. Domingo 
property for over 3 0 
years ripened into 
ownership by 
acquisitive prescription 

54 RTC Records, pp. 434-435 (Exhibits "2" and "T," with sub-markings). 
55 TSN, March 12, 1999, pp. 6-7. 
56 RTC Records, pp. 434-435 (Exhibits "2'' and "T," with sub-markings). 
57 TSN, September 9, 2003, pp. 9- 15. 
58 RTC Records, pp. 202-204, Formal Offer of Plaintiffs' Exhibits dated August 17, 1999, indicating only 

Exhibits "A" to ''R" with their sub-markings. 
59 Zambales v. Savacion Villon Zambales, 851 Phil. 52, 58(20 19) [Per J. Peralta, Third Division], ciling 

the RULES OF CouRr, Rule 132, Section 34, which states: The court shall consider no evidence which 
has not been formally offered. The purpose for which the evidence is offered must be specified. 

60 TSN, January I9,2000,pp. ll - I7. 
61 TSN, June 6, 2006, pp. 2- 7. 
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A person may acquire ownership over a real property by prescription.62 

In order to ripen into ownership, one's possession must be in the concept of 
an owner, public, peaceful, and uninterrupted63 for the periods stated in Article 
1134, for ordinary prescription, and in Article 1137 for extraordinary 
prescription of the Civil Code: 

ARTICLE 1134. Ownership and other real rights over immovable 
property are acquired by ordinary prescription through possession of ten 
years. 

ARTJCLE 11 37. Ownership and other real rights over immovables 
also prescribe through uninterrupted adverse possession thereof for thirty 
years, ·without need <~ltiile or of goodfaith. (Emphasis supplied) 

In its Decision,64 the RTC declared that Jaime and Napoleon's claim of 
ownership over the Sto. Domingo property could not prosper because their 
possession only started in 1980, hence, did not meet the required 30-year 
period for extraordinary acquisitive prescription. 

The RTC is mistaken. 

As a rule, prescription does not run in favor of a co-heir or co-owner 
for as long as the existence of the co-ownership is recognized. In other words, 
the l 0-year and 30-year periods for acquisitive period under Articles 1134 and 
113 7 of the Civil Code, will only commence once there is a clear repudiation 
of the co-ownership.65 

Following this principle, the Court finds that the extrajudicial partition 
executed by the Valiente siblings in November 1966 did not only embody a 
valid relinquishment on the part of Soledad, Elizabeth and Vicente in favor of 
Jaime and Napoleon. Ultimately, the extrajudicial partition serves as ample 
legal basis for Jaime and Napoleon's adverse possession of the Sto. Domingo 
property.66 It was undisputed that Jaime and Napoleon immediately and 
exclusively occupied the premises after the partition. This is a clear act of 
repudiation and signals the commencement of the period of prescription. 
Counting from the extrajudicial partition in November 1966 until the filing of 
respondents' complaint in May 1996, Jaime and Napoleon had actual, 
exclusive, and undisturbed possession for over 30 years and thus, acquired the 
Sto. Domingo property through extraordinary acquisitive prescription.67 

62 CIV IL. CODE, art. 111 7. 
Article 1117. Acqui5itive prescription of dominion and other real rights may be ordinary or 
extraordinary. 

Ordinary acquisitive prescription requires possession of things in good fa ith and with just title for 
the time fixed by law. 

6
' Marcelo v. Court a/Appeals, 365 Phil. 354. 361 ( 1999) [Per J. Vitug, Third Division]. 

6•1 Id. at 69- 81. 
65 Heirs ofManingding v. Cv11rl c>/Appeals, 342 Phil. 567,577 ( 1997) [Per.!. Bellosillo, First Division]. 
66 Id. 
67 lorerr::.n v. £11staquio, G.R. No. 209435, August I 0, 2022 lPer J. Hernando, First Division]; Vda. de 

Fig11racio11 v. Figuradon-Gerilla, 703 Phil. 455, 47 1 (20 I 3) [Per J. Reyes, First Division]. 
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At any rate, even assuming that the R TC was correct jn reckoning the 
prescriptive period from 1980, when the tax declaration was transferred from 
Cerilo's name to that of Jaime and Napuleon,68 still, a period of 16 years has 
already lapsed before the respondents filed their Complaint for partition and 
damages in I 996. The adverse, exclusive, and uninterrupted possession in 
good faith of Jaime and Napoleon on the basis of the extrajudicial partition as 
their just title, coupled with the payment of real property taxes - are sufficient 
proofs that they acquired ownership of the Sto. Domingo propetiy through 
ordinary prescription, at the very least. 

In sum, the absence of preponderance of evidence that the respondents 
are entitled to a share as co-owners in the Sto. Domingo property warrants the 
dismissal of their Complaint for partition and damages. 

The sale of the Concepcion 
Pequena property to Jaime and 
Napoleon is valid 

( a) The property was 
owned by Antero and 
was not inherited by 
Soledad from her 
parents 

[n their Complaint for partition and damages, respondents alleged that 
the Concepcion Pequefia property was inherited by Soledad from her parents, 
hence, was passed down to the Valiente siblings as a common property after 
her death. However, Jaime and Napoleon made it appear that the land was 
sold by Antero to Soledad to strengthen their claim that they purchased the 
prope1iy from Soledad before she died. On the other hand, petitioners clarified 
that the land originally belonged to Antero. It was sold in 1977 to Soledad, 
who, in tum sold the property to her sons, Jaime and Napoleon. 

The RTC and the CA ruled in favor of the respondents. Thereupon, the 
Concepcion Pequefia property was declared to be part of the estate of Soledad 
and was ordered to be partitioned among the Valiente siblings and their heirs. 
The ruling .is contrary to the evidence on record. 

A careful cxaminatjon of OCT No. 100 in the name of Antero, who is 
Soledacl's nephew,69 shows that the title ,vas issued way back on June 29, 
1955 in favor of Antero purnunnt to Free Patent No. V-155 ·1 s.70 The grant of 
the free patent in Antero's name clearly shows that he was the sole owner and 

68 Records, pp. 463 and dorsa! page, Fie ld Apprni :;a! and Assessment Sheet/\.. R.P. No. 1883 for the year 
1980, in the name or Jaime <":!td Nr.polt:on. 

69 TSN, March 6, '.WOO, pp. J-4. 
711 Records, pp. 4 55--456 md dursa! portions. 
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cultivator of the land.71 The existence of the free patent disproves respondents' 
cla i1T1 that the Concepcion Pequefia property was inherited by Soledad from 
her parents and that the sa le between her and Antero in 1977 was merely a 
ploy to faci litate the transfer of inheritance. 

With regard to the sale in favor of Soledad, the Court notes that the 
transaction was covered by a notarized deed of absolute sale of real property72 

dated May 5, 1977. The sale was duly annotated in the memorandum of 
encumbrances of OCT No. l 00, along with the other sales and mortgages 
executed by Antero. The OCT also shows that the portion sold to Soledad is 
only a fraction of the entire I 5,886 square meters owned and registered in the 
name of Antero. Verily, the voluntary dealings made by Antero with respect 
to the other portions of his land, as reflected in the annotations on the OCT, 
proved that he is the real owner of the Concepcion Pequefia property before 
that portion was sold to Soledad.73 

Next, what is left for the Court to determine is whether the RTC and the 
CA correctly held that the deed of absolute sale of real property dated May 5, 
1977 subsequently executed between Soledad, as vendor and Jaime and 
Napoleon as vendees,74 is void because the signature of Soledad is a forgery. 

(b) Respondents failed 
to discharge their 
burden of proving 
forgery; presumption of 
regularity of notarized 
documents p revails 

To prove the forgery, respondents presented the testimonies of 
Virginia's brother, Alfredo Asico (Alfredo), and that of Rizaardo. Both 
witnesses stated that Soledad could not have signed the deed of sale in 1977 
because she was already blind. In particular, A lfredo narrated that he attended 
the wake of his brother-in-law, Vicente in 1975. At that time, he saw that 
Soledad was only touching the coffin because she could no longer see.75 This 
was reiterated by Rizaardo who testified that her grandmother was already 
weak and blind in 1975.76 

Petitioners denied the allegation. Jaime testified that her mother, 
Soledad, went home to Camaligan in 1977 for a vacation and she was 
accompanied by her sister Elizabeth. 1t was during this time that the 
Concepcion Pequefia prope1.ty was offered and sold to Soledad by her nephew, 

71 Basilio v. Callo, 890 Phil. 802, S : I (2020) lPcr J. Perlas-Bernabe. Second Divi.,ion]. 
n Records, p.458 and dorsal. 
7

•
3 Id. al 455-456 and dorsa l. 

·,., /cl. at 457 and dor,al 
75 TSN, January 15, 1998, pp. 3- 10 . 
7
'' TSN , April 2, 1998, pp. 5- i5. 
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Antero. However, upon realizing that the property is only a grassland filled 
with cogon, Soledad decided to sell the lot to Jaime and Napoleon.77 

Faced with the opposing statements on the physical capacity of Soledad 
to sign the deed of sale in 1977,78 the RTC declared: 

Plaintiffs contend that Soledad could not have signed said document 
as the latter was a lready weak and blind at that time. No witnesses were 
presented to prove that indeed Soledad intended to sell the property to 
Napoleon and Jaime or to prove that Soledad received the purchase price[.] 

Defendants failed to prove the truth and validity of the Deed of Sale 
of the property located at Concepcion Pequef\a, Naga City, executed by one 
Soledad Vda. de Valiente in their favo r. The registration of the document 
was a ministerial act and merely created a constructive notice of its contents 
against all parties. 79 

Again, the Court notes that the RTC did not give a definitive ruling on 
the issue of forgery as it simply declared that the partition of the Concepcion 
Pequefia prope11y is in order. This conclusion cannot be sustained because 
forgery cannot simply be presumed. It must be proven by clear, positive, and 
convmcmg evidence and the burden of proof lies on the party alleging 
forgery .80 

In the similar case of Almeda v. Heirs of Ponciano Almeda,8 1 the 
petitioners claimed that their eldest sibling, Ponciano, took advantage of his 
close relationship with their deceased parents and simulated the sale of the 
properties in his favor through forgery. During the trial, Emerl ina, one of the 
siblings, testified that the vendors' signatures appearing on the deed of sale 
contain wild strokes that did not belong to her parents. The Cou11 held that the 
person contesting the genuineness of a notarized deed of sale has the burden 
to make out a clear-cut case of forgery by showing: 

(1) the extent, kind and significance of the variation[] [in the standard and disputed 
signatures]; 

(2) that the variation [isl due to the operation of a different personality and not 
merely an expected and inevitable variation found in the genuine writing of the 
same writer; and 

(3) that the resemblance (is a] resul t of a more or less skillful imitation and not 
merely a habitual and characteristic resemblance which naturally appears in a 

genuine writing.82 

77 TSN, March 6, 2000, pp. 3- 18. 
78 Rollo, pp. 69-81. 
79 Id. at 76- 79. 
80 Spouses Coronel v. Solis Quesada, 864 Phil. 420, 432 (2007) [Per J. Pera lta, Th ird Divis ion]. 
81 818 Phil. 239(20 17) [Per J. Tijam, First Division]. 
82 Id. at 254- 255. 
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Using this standard, the Court ruled that Emerlina's uncorroborated 
testimony failed to demonstrate that the signatures of their parents were 
forged. Emerlina stood to benefit from a judgment annulling the deed of sale, 
hence, her testimony was not as reliable as written or documentary evidence. 
The Court ruled that her self-serving statements did not overcome the 
presumption of regularity and due execution of the notarized deed of sale.83 

Relative to this, in Manongsong v. Estimo,84 the Court stressed that in 
order " [t]o assai I the authenticity and due execution of a notarized document, 
the evidence must be clear, convincing, and more than merely 
preponderant."85 Respondents fail in this aspect. 

In this case, the only evidence adduced to prove the alleged forgery 
were the self-serving testimonies of Alfredo and Rizaardo, who claim that 
Soledad was already blind at the time of the sale of the Concepcion Pequefia 
property. The RTC heavily relied on these verbal accounts such that it failed 
to consider that the deed of absolute sale of real property86 dated May 5, 1977 
executed by Soledad in favor of Jaime and Napoleon was a notarized 
document and was duly registered with the Registry of Deeds. 

Being classified as a public document, the notarized deed of sale carries 
a presumption of regul arity.87 The act of notarization lends truth to the 
statements contained in the deed of sale, including the authenticity of the 
signatures affixed by the parties.88 In assessing its evidentiary weight, the 
Court may therefore rely on the face of the notar ized deed of sale between 
Soledad and her sons Jaime and Napoleon. Thus, we uphold its authenticity 
and due execution without need of further examination.89 

83 Id. at 258. 
84 452 Phil. 862 (2003) [Per J. Carpio, First Divis ion]. 
85 Id. at 877- 878. 
86 Records, p. 457 and dorsal. 
87 RULES OF COURT, Rule 132, sec. 19(b); See also Tigno v. Spouses Aquino, 486 Phil. 254, 27 1- 272 (2004) 

[Per J. Tinga, Second Division]. 
Section I 9. Classes of"documents. - For the purpose of their presentat ion in evidence, documents are 
either public or private. 

Public documents are: 

(b) Documents acknowledged before a notary public except last wills and testaments[.] 
(c) Documents that are considered public documents under treaties and conventions which are in 

force between the Philippines and the country of sources; and 
(d) Public records, kept in the Philippines, of pr ivate documents required by law to be entered 

therein. 
A ll other writings are private. 

88 
Delfin v. Bil lone.1·, G.R. No. 146550, March 17, 2006, 5 19 Phil. 720, 732 (2006) (Per J. T inga, Third 
Division]. 

89 Tortona v. Gregorio, 823 Ph i l. 980, 99 1 (20 18) [Per J. Leonen, Third Division]. 
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From the totality of evidence presented, the Court sees that from the 
year 1962, the Valiente siblings and their mother, Soledad, took pains to 
extrajudicially partition all the properties owned by them (Cerilo and 
Soledad). The siblings Vicente, Elizabeth, Napoleon, and Jaime were all given 
their shares, and not one of them questioned the partition during their lifetime. 

Lamentably, the remaining heirs, particularly the children of Vicente, 
do not share the same sentiment. They filed their Complaint for partition and 
damages in 1996. Yet, there was no explanation given by the respondents for 
the long delay. As held by the Court in Catholic Bishop of Balanga v. Court 
of Appeals,90 the " [c]ourts cannot look with favor at parties who, by their 
silence, delay and inaction, knowingly induce another to spend time, effort, 
and expense in cultivating the land, paying taxes and making improvements 
thereon for an unreasonable period only to spring an ambush and claim title 
which the possessor's efforts and the rise of land values offer an opportunity 
to make easy profit at their own expense."91 Apait from the lack of evidence 
to support the action for pa1tition as discussed, the unexplained delay on the 
part of respondents children of Vicente in filing their claim has converted their 
right into a stale demand. Equity demands that they now be estopped from 
questioning petitioners' ownership of the disputed propeit ies.92 

ACCORDINGLY, the Petition for Review on Certiorari is 
GRANTED. The Decision dated November 26, 2009 and the Resolution 
dated November 12,2010 of the Court of Appeals in CA-G.R. CV No. 89127 
are REVERSED. The Complaint for partition and damages docketed as Civil 
Case No. ' 96-3554 filed before the Regional Trial Comt , Branch 23, Naga 
City is DIS1\1ISSED for lack of merit. 

SO ORDERED. 

90 332 Phil. 206 ( 1996) rrer J. Hermosisima, Fi rst Divisionj. 
91 Id. at 224. 
91 Id. at 224- 225 
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